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Introduction 
 
The Palm Springs Preservation Foundation (PSPF) is a non-profit organization 
whose mission is ñto educate and promote public awareness of the importance of 
preserving the historical resources and architecture of the city of Palm Springs and 
the Coachella Valley area.ò 
 
Starting in 2008, PSPF has actively lobbied local governments throughout the 
Coachella Valley to support the creation of historic districts in accordance with their 
local ordinances.  However, due to the foundationôs limited resources, PSPF can 
only support efforts to create historic districts if there is strong homeowner interest 
and enthusiasm for such an undertaking.   
 
On April 26, 2013, and again on October 5, 2013, Sandcliff Homeowners 
Association (HOA) representatives met with PSPF representatives to discuss the 
process of becoming a Palm Springs historic district.  Despite the general 
enthusiasm for pursuing historic district designation, PSPF representatives 
emphasized that PSPF would devote resources to such a project only if, (1) there 
was a positive vote of the HOA to pursue the nomination and, (2) that a ñDocument 
of Owner Supportò was circulated among Sandcliff homeowners showing that there 
was general support for the nomination.  
 
On March 6, 2015, the Sandcliff HOA provided PSPF with various documents of 
owner support indicating that 37 of the 40 Sandcliff homeowners supported 
pursuing historic district designation.  Copies of these documents (and a detailed 
photographic survey of the Sandcliff complex) have been provided to the cityôs 
Director of Planning Services on a separate compact disk.   
 
In late October 2014, Melissa Riche (a PSPF member, design writer and public 
relations consultant specializing in architecture and real estate) was engaged by 
the PSPF board to author the historic district nomination. 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

SIGNIFICANCE:  Sandcliff Garden Apartment Homes (hereinafter referred to as 
ñSandcliffò) were the first ñgarden apartmentsò to be zoned for medium density 
development in the area of south Palm Springs along Barona Road and south of 
Highway 111.   Developed by the Berkeley Square Company and designed by 
Sherwin L. Barton, Sandcliff was built in an area zoned as ñR2ò as a result of the 
cityôs 1959 General Plan.  Sandcliff is a superb example of ñDesert Modernò 
architecture that has remained remarkably intact since the completion of its 
construction in 1964.  Aside from its architectural significance, Sandcliff represents 
a historical moment in Palm Springsô urban development.  
 
DESIGNATION CRITERIA:  Sandcliff has not previously been evaluated for 
historic district eligibility. 
 
A brief summary of the evaluation contained in this nomination is as follows:   
 
8.05.020 (a) paragraph 1 - Events:  This criterion recognizes properties associated 
with events or ñpatterns of eventsò or historic trends.  In this nomination, the 
applicable pattern of events are: (1) the rise of garden apartment developments in 
Palm Springs; (2) the maturation of thoughtful urban planning that responded to 
changing demographics;  and (3) the gradual rise of Palm Springsô prominence in 
midcentury architectural excellence.  Sandcliff is associated with the 
aforementioned pattern of events and therefore qualifies for listing as a Historic 
District under Criterion 1. 
 
8.05.020 (a) paragraphs 3, 4 & 5 - Design/Construction:  Sandcliff is eligible 
under the theme of Modern architecture because it possesses numerous 
distinctive characteristics that make up the modernist style, including flat roofs, 
expansive amounts of glass (including floor to ceiling windows and doors), 
decorative concrete masonry, etc.  Additionally, the design of Sherwin L. Barton 
must be catalogued as possessing ñhigh artistic valuesò in view of the obvious 
architectural excellence of the Sandcliff complex.  For its distinctive ñDesert 
Modernismò characteristics, Sandcliff qualifies as a Historic District under Criteria 
3, 4 & 5. 

 
SUMMARY: This evaluation finds Sandcliff eligible for listing as a Palm Springs 
Historic District under 8.05.020 (a) paragraphs 1, 3, 4 & 5 of the local ordinanceôs 
seven criteria (criterion 6 is deemed as inapplicable as the various buildings in the 
Sandcliff complex possess ñindividual distinctionò).  Additionally, the Sandcliff 
complex retains a high degree of architectural integrity. 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
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                     CITY OF PALM SPRINGS 
Department of 

Planning Services 
3200 East Tahquitz Canyon Way, Palm 

Springs, CA 92262 

Telephone: 760-323-8245 ~  Fax: 760-322-
8360 

 

 

 
HISTORIC SITE DESIGNATION 
The City of Palm Springs allows for the local designation of historic buildings, sites or 
districts within the City (Section 8.05 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code.) This 
application packet is to be completed in order to request a historic designation.  For 
additional information, please contact the Department of Planning Services at 760-323-
8245 or planning@palmspringsca.gov. 

 
APPLICATION 
The completed application and required materials may be submitted to the 
Department of Planning Services. The submittal will be given a cursory check and will 
be accepted for filing only if the basic requirements have been met. A case planner will 
be assigned to the project and will be responsible for a detailed review of the 
application  and  all  exhibits  to  ensure  that  all  required  information  is  adequate  
and  accurate. Incomplete applications due to missing or inadequate information will not 
be accepted for filing. Applicants may be asked to attend scheduled meetings pertaining 
to their project.  These will include the Historic Site Preservation Board (HSPB) and the 
City Council. 

 
HISTORIC SITE PRESERVATION BOARD (HSPB) 
Once the application has been determined to be complete, the HSPB will review the 
application to determine whether the site meets the minimum qualifications for 
designation pursuant to Chapter 8.05 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code. If such 
determination is made, a public hearing will be scheduled for a future meeting. 
A public hearing will be held by the HSPB to receive testimony from all interested 
persons concerning the Historic Site Designation. The public hearing may be 
continued from time to time, and upon complete consideration, the HSPB will make a 
recommendation to the City Council.  Notice will be provided as indicated below. 

 
CITY COUNCIL 
After receiving the recommendation of the Historic Site Preservation Board, a public 
hearing will be held by the City Council to receive testimony from all interested 
persons concerning the requested Historic Site Designation. The public hearing may be 
continued from time to time, and upon complete consideration, the City Council will 
then conditionally approve, deny, or approve the application as submitted. The City 
Council's decision on the application is final. 

 
NOTIFICATION 
Prior to consideration of the application by the HSPB and the City Council, a notice of 
public hearing for a Historic Site Designation request will be mailed to all property 
owners within 400 feet of the subject property a minimum of ten (10) days prior to the 
hearing dates. 

mailto:planning@palmspringsca.gov.
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Date: 

Case No. 

HSPB No. 

Planner: 

 

 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF PALM SPRINGS 
Department of Planning Services 

 

Office Use Only 

 

HISTORIC SITE DESIGNATION APPLICATION 
 
TO THE APPLICANT: 
Your cooperation in completing this application and supplying the information requested will expedite 
City review of your application.  Application submitted will not be considered until all submittal 
requirements are met. Staff may require additional information depending upon the specific project. 
Please submit this completed application and any subsequent material to the Department of Planning 
Services. 

 
This form is to be used to nominate individual properties for Class 1 or 2 historic designations, or to 
nominate the formation of historic districts. Applicants are encouraged to review two bulletins from the 
US Department of Interior for additional information: 
 
¶  ñHow  to  Complete  the  National  Register  of  Historic  Places  Registration  Formò  

(National Register Bulletin 16A / 
http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb16a/); and 

 
¶ ñHow to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluationò (National Register Bulletin 15; 

         http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15/). 
 
Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by entering the information requested.  If 
any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For 
functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and 
subcategories from the instructions in the Bulletins. 

 

 

1. Property Information 

 
Historic name:  Sandcliff Garden Apartment Homes (called ñSandcliffò from its original launch in March 
1960, the community reverted to that name on April 2, 2014 from ñGarden Villas No. 1ò)  

Other names: Garden Villas and Garden Villas I (1966-2014) 

Address:   1800 Barona Road, Palm Springs, CA 92264  

Assessor Parcel Number: See Appendix I for the Assessorôs Map and Appendix II for a listing of APNs) 

HOA Point of Contact: 

Ownerôs Name (Management Company): Albert Management Inc. 

Ownerôs (Mailing) Address: 41865 Boardwalk, #101 

City:  Palm Desert    State: CA    Zip:  92211 

Telephone:  

Fax number:  Not applicable   

E-mail address: 
 

http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb16a/);
http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15/).
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2. Classifications 

 
Ownership of Property. Fill as many boxes as apply. 

ƴ Private 
Ǐ Public - Local  
Ǐ Public - State  
Ǐ Public - Federal 

 

Category of Property. Fill only one box. 

Ǐ Building (Note can include site) 

ƴ District 
Ǐ Site (Exclusive of Structures) 
Ǐ Structure 
Ǐ Object 

 

Number of Resources within Property. TOTAL must include at least One (1) in Contributing Column. 
  

Contributing Non-contributing  
40  Buildings (comprising 40 present-day and historical 

units) 
1  Sites 
2   Structures (includes 2 cabanas and pools - carports not 

included 
  Objects 
43  Total 

 
 

If the building or site is part of a larger group of properties, enter the name of the multiple-property 
group; otherwise enter "N/A". 
ñN/Aò 
. 

3. Use or Function 

  
 Historic Use or Function: Multi-family residential housing  

 Current Use or Function: Multi-family residential housing  
 
 

4. Description 

 
Architect:  Sherwin L. Barton (Designer) 

Construction Date and Source:   1960 - 1964 (Multiple sources, including building permits) 

Architectural Classification:  International Style - Desert Regional Variation 

Construction Materials: 

Foundation: Concrete slab Roof: Composition 

Walls: Concrete block, stucco, wood Other:  
 

 
 

Building Description: Attach a description of the Building/Site/District, including all character 
defining features on one or more additional sheets.  (See pages 15-22 and Appendix III)
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5. Criteria (Fill all boxes that apply for the criteria qualifying the property for listing.) 

 
Events 

 

ƴ (1) Fill this box if the property is associated with events that have made a significant 

contribution to the broad patterns of our history. 
 
Persons 

 
Ǐ (2) Fill this box if the property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our 
past. 

 
 

Architecture 

 
ƴ (3) Fill this box if the property reflects or exemplifies a particular period of national, State 
or local history, or 
ƴ (4) Fill this box if the property e mbodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period,  
or method of construction, or 

ƴ (5) Fill this box if the property r epresents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic 

values, or 

 
Ǐ (6) Fill this box if the property r epresents a significant and distinguishable entity 

whose components lack individual distinction. 
 

Archeology 

Ǐ (7) Fill this box if the property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in 

prehistory or history. 
 

Other Criteria Considerations (Check all the boxes that apply.) 

Ǐ  the property is owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes  
Ǐ  the property has been removed from its original location. 

Ǐ  the property is  a birthplace   

Ǐ  the property is a grave or cemetery. 

Ǐ  the property is a reconstructed building, object, or structure 

Ǐ  the property is commemorative 

Ǐ  the property is less than 50 years of age or has achieved significance within the past 50 

years  
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6. Statement of Significance 
 
 
History 
 
In the late 1950s and early 1960s, the need for higher density apartment-style dwellings 
in Palm Springs was becoming more urgent due to a spurt in population growth, and a 
scarcity in the market for this type of development.  In a 1958 City Planning Commission 
Community Survey Report (see Appendix IV), the responses showed that 60.4% of 
respondents were living in single-family homes, 28.9% in mobile homes, and only 5.6% 
in apartments.  In the 1959 Palm Springs General Plan, the ñPopulationò section 
remarked that in 1956, the permanent population of Palm Springs was 12,225.  This 
was an increase of about 60% over 1950, and 13% over 1953.  Future permanent 
growth was predicted to continue at approximately 4-5% annually (see Appendix V). 
 
When the Sandcliff complex received planning approval in 1960, this area of south Palm 
Springs was largely undeveloped.  Most of the existing hotels and apartments were 
further east on East Palm Canyon Drive and there were no other apartment 
communities nearby.  The only residences in the vicinity were the ranch houses of 
Smoke Tree Ranch which had been built starting in the 1930s.  The nearest comparable 
apartments were Royal Hawaiian Estates with the nearest large hotels being the 
Biltmore and LôHorizon, and a scattering of boutique hotels (like El Rancho Lodge) and 
a few mobile home parks. 
 

 
 
Vintage (pre-zip code) postcard of the ñnewò Smoke Tree Shopping Center showing largely 

undeveloped land to the east (left) 
(Courtesy Petley Studios with photograph by Jim Burke) 
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The much-debated 1959 General Plan of Palm Springs, which had been adopted as a 
ñguideò in September 1960, proposed not only building medium density garden 
apartments in this area, they also proposed a ñneighborhood shopping centerò nearby 
but only if ñthe population is there, or reasonably imminentò to support it (see Appendix 
VI).  The plan also cited the cityôs population growth, noting that, ñThe Cityôs resort 
function seems to generate some of its permanent population.  In recent years, many 
Palm Springs vacationers have established homes in the community, and now commute 
from Palm Springs to Los Angeles, rather than vice-versa.ò  The 1959 General Plan 
(page 14) also opined that:   
 

The demand for apartments and garden apartments is growing and is likely to 
continue.  The population of Palm Springs has been steadily ñagingò ï that is,  
many older persons and retired persons have been attracted to the City.  Often, 
such families want the amenities of low density living with the convenience and 
minimum responsibilities of apartment living, and garden apartments are the  
perfect answer.  Surveys also showed that nearly one-half the families consist  
of two persons or less; such families are potential apartment dwellers. 

 
The report goes on to state that: 
 

The area shown in medium density at the south end of the City close to the  
mountains is endowed with a beautiful natural environment and a spectacular 
view which would make it a most unusual and desirable location for apartments, 
with excellent access to the rest of the Cityé.The density standard represents 
at maximum one dwelling unit per 3,000 square feet of lot area, permitting spa- 
cious apartments and plenty of outdoor living space. 

 
Barona Road (an extension of Farrell Road) was considered a key link to the northern 
part of the city, and advertisements later made a point of highlighting the ease of access 
to the new Palm Springs Airport.  Though the new airport was not opened until 1966, in 
1961 the citizens of Palm Springs approved a $3 million bond for the Donald Wexler-
designed complex. 
 
The 1959 General Plan proposed nine neighborhood shopping centers be built to 
accommodate the resort lifestyle stating that: 
 

éin addition to being an essential convenience facility for residential areas, 
[neighborhood shopping centers] will relieve central area congestion to some 
degree by making it possible for the resident to buy his bread or drop off  
the cleaning near his home, instead of having to drive downtown for these  
daily errandséeach of the [shopping] Centers [should] be developed as a  
unit, with an organized arrangement of stores, parking, and serviceénot 
ribboned out along a highway or scattered on all corners of an intersectioné. 
These outlying centers should develop in an orderly way, at such time and to  
such size as is warranted by population and supportably by available purchasing 
power.  Shopping center zoning should not be granted before population 
is there or reasonably imminent. 

 
The 1959 General Plan clearly showed an allocation for a shopping center at East Palm 
Canyon and La Verne Way (the extension to Sunrise Way), on the south side of 
Highway 111.  This became the Smoke Tree Village Shopping Center that opened in 
1965. 
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Specific to the history of Sandcliff, the 1959 General Plan spurred growth in this area 
and (also in 1959) prompted developers Berkeley Square Company to purchase the 
tract that was to become the Sandcliff Garden Apartment Homes.  On November 3, 
1959, Herman (ñHyò) Ranes, Planning Director for the City of Palm Springs, wrote to H. 
W. Smith of Berkeley Square Company, approving a change of zoning classification 
from ñG.R.ò (Guest Ranch), to ñR-2ò (Limited Multiple Family).  In return, the developers 
were to undertake street ñdedicationò with asphalt paving along Barona Road and 
Morongo Trail, as well as concrete curbs and gutters to both frontages.  Attached to the 
November 3, 1959 letter was a copy of the October 10, 1959 Planning Commission 
minutes which stated, in part:  
 

[The] City of Palm Springs Master Plan designates this area to be considered for 
high density and hotel use and said Master Plan further recommends that Barona 
Road be designated as a major thoroughfare to connect the northerly portion of 
the City with the recently annexed southerly portionsé 

   
The Developers 
 
The Berkeley Square Company was formed in Nevada in 1954 and registered in 
California.  It was likely named for the fabled, gated Los Angeles subdivision of beautiful 
mansions called ñBerkeley Square,ò dating from the early 1900s and built for oilmen, 
lawyers, and real estate investors.  In 1959 (the very year that the Berkeley Square 
Company was planning Sandcliff) the original Berkeley Square near downtown Los 
Angeles was doomed by plans to run the Santa Monica Freeway right through the 
community.  Documents show that in November 1959, the Berkeley Square Company 
was located at 2124 Venice Boulevard, in the West Adams district (only a few blocks 
from Berkeley Square).  By 1962, the company had relocated to the prestigious Welton 
Becket & Associates designed 12-story Albion Pacific Building at 3350 Wilshire 
Boulevard (still standing in the area of Los Angeles now known as Koreatown).  The 
owners and officers of the company were listed as Mr. H. W. Smith and Mr. M. Norton 
Elliott.   
 
On December 31, 1959, the sale of the land for Sandcliff was recorded.  It was sold to 
Berkeley Square Company by Adolf Bremer Jr. and his wife Mary Bremer, who owned a 
company called the Desert Isle Land and Development Company.  Desert Isle is also 
the name of the adjacent condominium complex (see Appendix VII). 
 
Bell-Aire Gardens, Inc., a Nevada Corporation, was also listed as having an ownership 
stake in Sandcliff but no additional information has been uncovered about this 
corporation.  When the remaining apartments were sold to Prudential Savings & Loan in 
1966, both companies were listed as having one-half share in Sandcliff. 
 
Designer/Planner Sherwin L. Barton 
 
Sherwin Lemmon Barton was born in 1918 in Parowan, Utah.  He was raised in 
California, and left high school in 1937, one semester before graduation.  He worked as 
a laborer before joining the U.S. Army in 1940.  He became a fighter pilot in World War 
II, as a Second Lieutenant for the Eighth Army Air Force, based in England.  He flew 
only four combat missions before being shot down while piloting a B-17 bomber over 
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Germany in March of 1944.  Barton spent a year at the infamous Stalag Luft 1 before 
the U.S. Army arrived in June 1945.  Upon discharge he served with the Army 
Reserves, before becoming a building designer and contractor in California and New 
Mexico.  According to family members, he was ñalways designing somethingò and 
designed and built several homes in the Encino and Tarzana areas of Los Angeles.  He 
also had several U.S. patents for products including industrial machinery for food 
containers.  Family members report that records of his building designs were destroyed 
after his death in 1995.  His personal wartime papers are kept in storage at 
Pennsylvania State University Library. 
 
Permit and Survey History 
 
There is an extant ñRecord of Surveyò for Tract 3010 (the Sandcliff Apartment Homes 
acreage) created by Ernest N. Webb of Albert A. Webb Associates, Civil Engineers, and 
signed by the County Surveyor, G. T. Worsley on April 8, 1960.  The survey record 
shows that the lot design was approved by the City of Palm Springs at a March 23, 
1960 meeting.  The survey record also shows that the parcel of land contains less than 
6 acres and abuts dedicated streets.  The survey record shows 44 lots in total, with two 
of them set aside for community use, i.e., swimming pool and loggias, and two of them 
(Lots 1 and 21) eventually becoming carports.  Additionally, the survey record shows 
two groups of three apartments at the center of the community.  There was apparently 
some debate about this grouping and necessary setbacks, between the cityôs planning 
department and the developer.  Comparing the May 1969 Assessorôs Map with the 1960 
Record of Survey it becomes apparent that these two groups of three apartments were 
built closer to each other, with the two central units now having a shared wall, making a 
pod of six apartments.  This arrangement presumably answered the cityôs requirement 
of the developers for greater setbacks from walkways throughout the community. 
 
There exists extensive documentation in the form of hundreds of building, electrical and 
plumbing permits, job cards, pool inspections, etc., associated with the Sandcliff Garden 
Apartment Homes at 1800 Barona Road.  Many of these specifically identify Sandcliff.  
Two of the earliest mentions are: 
 
- Building Permit (#B1546) dated January 8, 1960 at 1828 Barona Road for three 
apartments, totaling 3,680 square feet.   The owner is listed as Mr. Elliot (M. Norton 
Elliot), Berkel(e)y Square Co. and the value of work is listed as $34,000.  The square 
footage seems fairly arbitrary and subsequent building permits for the rest of the 
development were pulled in April 1963, and all are for 1,450 square feet (again not 
necessarily reflecting the final square footage). 
 
- Plumbing Permit (#B879), also for Berkeley Square Company at 1828 Barona Road, 
dated January 8, 1960, lists the plumbers as Sun Plumbing and details ñ3 bathtubs, 6 
lavatories, 6 toilets, 3 showers, 3 dishwashers, 1 water piping, 3 water heaters, 9 gas 
outlets.ò  The total was for the first three apartments built at 1824, 1826, and 1828 
Barona Road.   
 
Final plans were submitted on July 20, 1963 for Lots 1 thru 41, inclusive of Tract 3010, 
Riverside County, City of Palm Springs, California in the name of Berkeley Square 
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Company, 3350 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 210, Los Angeles, 5, California.  The plans were 
created by Sherwin Barton, 16024 Ventura Blvd, Encino, California and the contractor/ 
owner was identified as M. Norton Elliot. 
 
Forty homes were constructed on this site, two of the 44 lots were carports, two were 
community pools and loggias.   Three of the final forty homes had already been 
constructed when plans were submitted in July 1963.   
 
Local Construction Context  
 

Sandcliff was part of the multi-family residential building boom that occurred in Palm 
Springs in the early 1960s, in large measure in the south part of the city.  Similar 
ñlifestyleò multi-family residential projects include Royal Hawaiian Estates (1960), Park 
Imperial South (1960) and Canyon View Estates (1962).  The history of these individual 
complexes is extensively chronicled in the Palm Springs Preservation Foundationôs 
tribute journal The Architecture of Desert Leisure which provides a more nuanced 
context for the multi-family residential building trend in Palm Springs in the 1960s. 
  
From the first ñPreviewò launch in March of 1960, the Sandcliff Garden Apartment 
Homes were marketed as ñown your own property ï carefree,ò with all the modern 
amenities of the day.  Insulation from both noise (important in a community where 
apartments were all duplex or triplex) and from heat and cold was a focus of the new 
Sandcliff apartments.   A 1960 Palm Springs Life advertisement highlights forced air 
heating, refrigerated air conditioning, full joist insulation, acoustical ceilings and sound-
proof masonry walls. 
 
National Construction Context 
 
In 1961, Congress authorized the Federal Housing Administration to insure mortgages 
on units in ñcondominiumò developments and this new law clearly impacted the ability of 
homeowners to buy apartments in Palm Springs (where once they would have been 
purely for vacation rental).  This new style of living and ownership would have been very 
much on the minds of the Sandcliff developers who, even in 1960 when the first three 
homes were marketed, were touting: ñown your own apartment homeséwithout the 
cares, repairs and maintenance problems.ò  With prices from $21,950 to $29,750, the 
availability of mortgage insurance was bound to make a difference for purchasers once 
new units were completed in 1963-64. 
 
A description of a ñcondominiumò from the book Homes of Character, first published in 
1962 reads: 
 

The condominium differs from a regular cooperative apartment in that the owner 
secures the title to the property rather than owning shares of stock in a corporation 
that owns the property.  Monthly payments include payment on the mortgage, 
interest, and an additional fee for the upkeep of common passages, exterior finishes, 
lawns, and in some instances, recreation areas such as swimming pools, etc. 

 
National research into what people wanted in their homes informed the post-war 
building boom of the late 1950s and early 1960s.  On the ñwant listò was more space 
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indoors and outdoors, at least one full bathroom plus a washroom, a kitchen from which 
the family could be observed, easy to maintain floors and counters, and better storage 
space.   
 
There was a growing emphasis on exposure and view, with patios, enclosed courts and 
swimming pools reflecting the outdoor living trend.  Large windows in living areas took 
advantage of the best views, while ñgrillworkò served to enclose terraces, patios, and 
gardens.  Single story homes made indoor/outdoor living even easier; living was 
informal.  Patios for barbecuing replaced front porches for rocking chairs; dining rooms 
were giving way to dining ñareasò combined into family or living rooms.  The ñopen plan 
was becoming the norm.ò 
 
 

                                   
 

A March 1964 Desert Sentinel newspaper advertisement for Sandcliff highlighted  
outdoor living almost exclusively. 

 
 
A 1964 House and Home magazine survey showed that ñwomen expect more and more 
in comfort and convenience.ò  Requirements included a master bedroom with a private 
bath, a dining area with a view, a closet near the front door, and more.  Technological 
advances in the home were reaching new heights in the early 1960s, and the homes at 
Sandcliff reflected those advances, with a plethora of built-ins, new-style appliances, 
intercoms, sunken tubs, and more.  There was no shortage of special equipment in the 
Sandcliff homes, and the pleasure of being a ñcarefree home owner with reduced 
expensesò was also considered a major attraction. 
 
Architecture/Design 
 

Designed by Sherwin L. Barton, Sandcliff is a superb example of ñDesert Modernò 
architecture.  Sandcliff has been remarkably well maintained and retains a high-degree 
of integrity since its completion in 1964.  Sandcliff totals 40 one and two-bedroom 
apartments divided into two duplex and 12 triplex ñpodsò surrounding two large 
swimming pools, spas, and loggias.  The community can be seen as a north and south 
pinwheel configuration of matching/flipped layouts, surrounding the north and south 
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pools and loggias.  At the north end of the community on Sandcliff Road are 16 
carports.  On the east side of the community, on Sandcliff Road, are 25 carports. 
  
With the exception of the three early units (1824, 1826, and 1828 Barona Road) that 
have barely-visible pitched roofs set within a low parapet, all the units have flat roofs.  
Inspired by the International Style, the low-slung single-story buildings feature wood 
frame and masonry construction, with stucco coated to a medium grade.  Along the 
Barona Road and Morongo Trail elevations, the central façade of each apartment has a 
taller elevation, central to which is a ñcombedò stucco vertical detail surrounding small 
windows. This taller façade breaks up the roofline, differentiating the community and 
providing visual interest.  Sliding glass door and window frames are aluminum.   Patio 
windows are commonly floor to ceiling, either permanent or sliding. 
 
The 14 units that face Barona Road were designed with staggered setbacks, ranging 
from 25 yards at left and right hand corners (off Sandcliff Road and Morongo Trail 
respectively), 15 yards at the next house along from left and right, then a pair of 
apartments set back at 10 yards, before dropping back to 20 yards.  These deeply 
staggered setbacks give a pleasing, low-density effect along Barona Road, the main 
frontage of the complex.  The setbacks have allowed for a variety of trees to be planted, 
including olive trees and palms.  This softens the overall look and feel of the complex.  
The west-facing Barona Road apartments have smaller patios, compensated by their 
expansive views.  On the other side of the complex (on Sandcliff Road) the views are 
more enclosed so apartments are compensated with extra-large patios facing into the 
community.  This provides more outdoor living but still allows homeowners to enjoy 
mountain views. 
 
Sandcliff apartments are designed so that no front doors face each other, adding to the 
sense of privacy.  Because of the unique layout of the 40 apartments front doors rarely 
face the street.  Along the main frontage on Barona Road, for example, only 7 homes 
have a front door that is entered from the main street.  To access the remaining homes 
on Barona Road, visitors take one of the three walkways that crisscross the community 
from Barona Road.  There is also an access walkway from Morongo Trail to the south, 
and from both sides of Sandcliff Road, on the north and east.  In 2014, Sandcliff 
apartments introduced uniform ñNeutraò house numbers to be clearly placed at the 
entrance to each home, making it easier for visitors to identify their destination. 
 
Every Sandcliff unit has two private patios: an ñentryò patio that is afforded privacy by 
the decorative screen block wall and is accessed through a door or gate that is the 
same height as the adjacent screen block wall.  Many of the doors are original and 
feature original brushed-aluminum hardware, with decorative geometric aluminum 
scratch plates.  Some patios still feature original terrazzo pavers, square or rectangular 
concrete planters, and many have original outdoor light sconces in aluminum with 
frosted glass shades.  Vertical walls on either or both sides of the patios feature a 2-foot 
wide return that creates a shadow detail as well as an additional sense of privacy. 
 
The consistent decorative feature throughout Sandcliff is the use of ornamental 
concrete screen block.  Used extensively in desert and tropical communities built in the 
late 1950s and 1960s, screen block creates privacy, while allowing daylight and breezes 
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in.  Palm Springs is known for the wide variety and use of these blocks in mid-century 
residential and commercial buildings, but there are few complexes that use them as 
effectively and as abundantly as Sandcliff.  Although modernist architecture rarely uses 
ornamentation, screen block provides aesthetic interest to otherwise plain facades while 
still serving a practical purpose.   
 
The complexôs original screen blocks include two patterns, ñFour Squareò and 
ñEmpress.ò  The Empress pattern was designed by modernist architect Edward Durell 
Stone who used this design for the U.S. Embassy in New Delhi (Patent No. 184,463 of 
February 17, 1959).  Stone employed it again in a ground to roof façade for his New 
York City brownstone. 

 

                      
 

    Empress (on left) and Four Square (on right) pattern concrete screen blocks 

 
    

                
 

Concrete screen blocks used in combination create a visually-pleasing effect 

 
At Sandcliff, these decorative block walls provide visual interest from the main street 
frontage on Barona Road, and create 9-foot high walls for patios that face the street.    
They are also used as decorative and privacy elements that screen entry patios.   
 
In addition to the screen blocks, the use of stacked square concrete blocks, 7 İò 
square, is also prevalent, most noticeably on the main Barona Road frontage.  Stacked 
square block ñpiersò extend from longer walls dividing homes along this street.  Between 
units 1800 and 1824, the pier ends in a raised square planter and has an L-shaped 
recess.  Each wall-pier is 9ô high. 
 
The stacked block walls are a design counterpoint to the screen blocks along entry 
walkways, where the blocks are used on the side of the adjacent apartment to create a 
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decorative detail for the passer-by.  They are also used as an entry feature on either 
side of entry gates for entry patios, and as a frame for screen block.   Solid walls of 
stacked blocks divide patios where two apartments have the same outlook. 
 
The circle is a recurring design theme at Sandcliff, softening the communityôs straight 
lines.  Dotted among the apartments are circular concrete stepping stones that lead 
from the main pathways to front doors and act as a visual surprise when encountered.  
The two biggest ñcirclesò are the north and south ends of the community.  An overhead 
view of Sandcliff shows that the apartments form a circle or pinwheel around each pool. 
The two largest ñcirclesò lie at the center of the Sandcliff community: the north and south 
swimming pool complexes.  The two rectangular pools are set into large circular 
surrounds that create the poolside areas.   
 
Central to the community life of the early 1960s, the two swimming pools and their 
spectacular loggias were designed with only one thing in mind: outdoor entertainment.  
Swimming pools on their own are obviously an attraction in the desert climate, but the 
two pool areas at Sandcliff are unusually spacious and dramatic.  With the two semi-
circle concrete decks on either side of the pools, residents have more than enough 
space for sipping cocktails under one of the original ñSundrella Casualò metal umbrellas.  
But the addition of the super-sized high-ceilinged shaded loggias with built in bars, 
BBQ, and table space, meant that day and night entertaining outdoors could be 
achieved without going home.   
 
Each loggia is 40-feet wide and 20-feet deep with ceiling heights of approximately 10 
feet.  Each has a poolside, semicircular raised bar area, 17ô-6ò long and 45-inches high 
that features an original blue mosaic tile counter top.  Another original feature to the 
right of the loggia is a long tiled countertop with built-in sink and a built-in gas barbecue.  
Behind the bar and providing a center point to each loggia is a round concrete table, 
with its pedestal decorated in original blue mosaic tiles.  The tabletop is 5ô 9ò diameter 
and 37ò high.  Above each circular table is a circular light recessed into the ceiling which 
matches the diameter of the table below.  At the rear of the loggia is a curved wall 
composed of 12ò-square blocks which mimics the curve of the poolside bar. 
 
Floorplans.  Built in 1960, the first three Sandcliff units are located at 1824, 1826 and 
1828 Barona Road.  These three units feature cathedral-style ceilings and gabled 
rooflines.  These early floor plans are similar in layout to the later (1963-64) floor plans 
and vary in size from 1,020 square feet up to 1,450 square feet (see Appendix VIII). 
 
Although all building permits from 1963 were listed as 1,450 square feet, the final floor 
plans varied.  Apartments were designed as one and two bedroom units, with 1½ or 2 
bathrooms.  Each floor plan included a den that could easily be walled or screened off 
to create a second or third bedroom. Interior spaces have in some cases been extended 
to absorb some of the outdoor patio space.  Interiors feature a simple and efficient use 
of space, with open plan living areas, pass-through kitchens.  Indoor /outdoor living was 
fundamental to the design of all the apartments, with generous, private patios. 
 
ñPlan A-1ò is a one bedroom, 1 İ bath apartment with óspacious areas for dining and 
indoor-outdoor relaxing and entertaining.  The large open plan living area includes a 
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living room and dining room as well as a den that could be walled off.  The bedroom is 
12 İ x 12 İô with its own bathroom and a small patio.  A guest bathroom is off the main  
 

 
 
hallway, next to the kitchen. The sizeable entrance patio leads directly to the main entry 
as well as the sliding glass doors of the living room, giving the unit plenty of natural light 
and views of the ólush landscapingô and ómanicured lawnsô ï and often views of the 
mountains too. 
 
ñPlan A-2ò is a two-bedroom unit, with spacious living dining area, extending to a den 
that could also be walled off, as Plan A-1.  This plan made even more use of the 
indoor/outdoor theme, with all living areas and bedrooms opening onto patios. The 
master bedroom has a lounge area that opens to the main entry patio at one end, and a  
 

 
 

dressing room and master bathroom and good-size closets at the other end.  The 
second bedroom and bathroom are opposite each other and the second bedroom also 
opens to the main patio area.  The living room has another patio originally with a built-in 
water feature. 
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ñPlan B-3ò is a floorplan which focused on maximizing indoor space, with smaller entry 
and master bedroom patios compared to the other plans.  The original plan featured two 
bedrooms and a convertible den, a living room with separate dining area and lounge 
area looking out to the community gardens.  Again, the master bedroom has a master  
 

 
 
bath and dressing room, and a private patio.  The second bedroom is opposite the 
guest bathroom.                           
 
Original features common to many of the homes to this day are the NuTone intercom 
systems, outdoor lighting sconces in aluminum and frosted glass.  Some houses still 
have their original kitchen and bathroom cabinets.  Many have their original front entry 
gate to the entry patio, along with original door hardware and decorative scratch plates.   
All homes feature decorative screen-block walls at the entry. 
 
The unit at 1811 Sandcliff features an all-original kitchen with a state-of-the-art 1960s 
Frigidaire Custom Imperial range, complete with slide out cooktop.  The original hand-
crafted solid wood cabinets were made in Los Angeles by Williamson Cabinet Shop (the 
stamp is still visible on cabinet interiors) and the sink features the original DishMaster 
Imperial Four washing and faucet combination, along with an In-Sink-Erator garbage 
disposal.  Built in to the countertop is the original ófood mixing centerô blender ï ideal for 
blending icy cocktails.  On the wall above the counter is the Nu-Tone intercom and 
music system that was connected to speakers throughout the unit.  This audio system 
still exists in many of the apartments today.   
 
Original bathrooms featured gold veined ñantiquedò mirrors on the wall behind the 
bathtub and some of these still exist.  Reeded glass doors opened to step down 
ñRomanò bathtubs; many of these are also still in existence.  Universal and Case silent 
water toilets were also featured to minimize apartment noise. 
 
Interior design and décor.  In a March 1960 advertisement for Sandcliff (for the first 
three units), the ñmodel apartmentsò were ñdecorated by W&J Sloane for Your 
Inspection.ò   This was a significant marketing ploy to the consumer because the 
ñvenerableò W&J Sloane was a recent arrival in Palm Springs.  The New York-based 
Sloane was encouraged by the success of their first west coast outpost in Beverly Hills, 
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which opened in 1950 in a state-of-the-art store on Wilshire Boulevard designed by 
architect Paul R. Williams.  W&J Sloane was a breeding ground for interior designers, 
including Arthur Elrod. 
 
In 1964, advertising for Sandcliff Garden Apartment Homes proclaimed ñFurnished 
Models by Vee Nisley,ò an interior designer (N.S.I.D.) who by that time was making a 
name for herself based out of her prestigious interior design studio in Rancho Mirage, 
on Highway 111.  Nisley had been responsible for the interior décor at the Sandpiper 
Apartments in Palm Desert.  For additional Sandcliff advertisements see Appendix IX. 
 
Site Description 
 
Location.   Constructed on land opposite the famous Smoke Tree Ranch, and just to the 
south of East Palm Canyon Drive, Sandcliff is only a short drive to the Palm Springs 
Airport.  Sited on 4.6 acres with views of the San Jacinto Mountains, Sandcliff is 
bounded by Barona Road to the west, East Morongo Trail to the south, Sandcliff Road 
to the north, and a continuation of Sandcliff Road to the east.   Where Sandcliff  
 

 
 

Aerial map of Sandcliff annotated with unit numbers (note map orientation) 
 

Road borders the community on the east, it also acts as an access road for parking and 
separates the community from Garden Villas East (a later development).  According to 
the 1960 Record of Survey the full legal description is ñIn the County of Riverside: A 
portion of Lot 4 of Palm Valley Colony Tract in Section 25, T.45, R.4.E, S.B.B.8.M.  Per 


